

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Corporations and Financial Services

Report on the ATM Fee Structure

January 2004

© Commonwealth of Australia 2004 ISBN 0642713480 Printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Parliament House, Canberra.

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

Senator Grant Chapman, Chairman

Senator Penny Wong, Deputy Chair

Senator George Brandis

Senator Stephen Conroy

Senator Andrew Murray

Mr Anthony Byrne MP

Mr Steven Ciobo MP

Mr Alan Griffin MP

Mr Gregory Hunt MP

Mr Stewart McArthur MP

SECRETARIAT

Dr Kathleen Dermody, Secretary

Ms Bronwyn Meredith, Principal Research Officer

Ms Angela Lancsar, Executive Assistant

Suite SG.64 Parliament House Canberra ACT 2600

T: 61 2 6277 3583 F: 61 2 6277 5719

E: corporations.joint@aph.gov.au

W: www.aph.gov.au/senate/committee/corporations ctte

DUTIES OF THE COMMITTEE

Section 243 of the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001 sets out the duties of the Committee as follows:

The Parliamentary Committee's duties are:

- (a) to inquire into, and report to both Houses on:
 - (i) activities of ASIC or the Panel, or matters connected with such activities, to which, in the Parliamentary Committee's opinion, the Parliament's attention should be directed; or
 - (ii) the operation of the corporations legislation (other than the excluded provisions), or of any other law of the Commonwealth, of a State or Territory or of a foreign country that appears to the Parliamentary Committee to affect significantly the operation of the corporations legislation (other than the excluded provisions); and
- (b) to examine each annual report that is prepared by a body established by this Act and of which a copy has been laid before a House, and to report to both Houses on matters that appear in, or arise out of, that annual report and to which, in the Parliamentary Committee's opinion, the Parliament's attention should be directed; and
- (c) to inquire into any question in connection with its duties that is referred to it by a House, and to report to that House on that question.

TERMS OF REFERENCE

On 25 July 2002, the Chairman of the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Corporations and Financial Services announced that the Committee had agreed to inquire into the level of banking and financial services available to Australians living in rural, regional and remote areas of the country. The inquiry was to place particular focus on:

- (a) options for making additional banking services available to rural and regional communities, including the potential for shared banking facilities;
- (b) options for expansion of banking facilities through non-traditional channels including new technologies;
- (c) the level of service currently available to rural and regional residents; and
- (d) international experiences and policies designed to enhance and improve the quality of rural banking services.

In October 2003, the Committee resolved to conduct, as part of its broader inquiry into banking and financial services in rural, regional and remote Australia, an inquiry into proposals to reform the Foreign ATM fee structure and its likely effect in country Australia. The Committee has produced this report as a supplement to its report, 'Money Matters in the Bush'.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Members of the Committee	111
Duties of the Committee	V
Terms of Reference	Vii
Recommendations	X1
CHAPTER 1	
FOREIGN ATM FEES AND CHARGES	
Background to the inquiry on ATM fee structures	1
Conduct of the inquiry	4
Acknowledgments	5
CHAPTER 2	
PROPOSED DIRECT CHARGING REGIME	
Introduction	7
The current ATM fees and charges	8
Study by the Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission	9
Inquiry by the Parliamentary Joint Statutory Committee on Corporations and Securities	12
The ATM Industry Steering Group (AISG) and its proposal for the introduction of a direct charge regime	13
Views on the proposal to introduce a direct charge regime	15
The pricing and accessibility of ATM services in rural, regional and remote Australia under the direct charging regime	16
Summary of views on the direct charging proposal	21
Overseas models	22
Committee's views	23
Conclusion	25
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY LABOR MEMBERS	27
APPENDIX 1	
LIST OF SUBMISSIONS	33
APPENDIX 2	
PUBLIC HEARINGS AND WITNESSES	37

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation 1 Chapter 2, p. 23

The Committee recommends that the ATM Industry Steering Group include in its considerations on the reform of ATM interchange fee arrangements the special circumstances of fees and charges associated with the use of foreign ATMs in rural, regional and remote Australia. The focus of the group would be on building into any proposed reform of the ATM fee structure, safeguards that would ensure that people living in country towns and remote communities do not incur significantly higher fees or charges for using a foreign ATM and that an unreasonable or unwarranted differential in fees and charges between those in rural and remote areas and those in metropolitan areas does not develop.

Recommendation 2 Chapter 2, p. 24

The Committee recommends that the AISG when considering reforms to the ATM fee structure give full consideration to ensuring that the price of obtaining an account balance is kept to a minimum and at the very least is in alignment with the costs associated with delivering the service.

Recommendation 3 Chapter 2, p. 24

The Committee recommends that, irrespective of progress on the introduction of a direct charging regime, the AISG develop a framework for real-time disclosure of ATM fees and charges to be implemented as soon as practicable. The framework is to ensure that information on the cost of a transaction is made available so that a customer can cancel the transaction before incurring any fee.

Recommendation 4 Chapter 2, p. 25

The Committee recommends that should a direct charging regime be introduced both the RBA and the ACCC closely monitor shifts in fees and charges for foreign ATM services and report publicly on developments in fees charged.

The Committee recommends further that should a direct charging regime be introduced the RBA produce statistics to show the fees for ATM services in rural, regional and remote Australia and the fees in metropolitan areas. In addition, the Committee recommends that the statistics include as a separate category fees charged for obtaining an account statement.

CHAPTER 1

FOREIGN ATM FEES AND CHARGES

Background to the inquiry on ATM fee structures

- 1.1 On 25 July 2002, the Chairman of the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Corporations and Financial Services announced that the Committee had agreed to inquire into the level of banking and financial services available to Australians living in rural, regional and remote areas of the country. The inquiry was to place particular focus on:
 - (a) options for making additional banking services available to rural and regional communities, including the potential for shared banking facilities;
 - (b) options for expansion of banking facilities through non-traditional channels including new technologies;
 - (c) the level of service currently available to rural and regional residents; and
 - (d) international experiences and policies designed to enhance and improve the quality of rural banking services.
- 1.2 The Committee tabled its report, *Money Matters in the Bush*, in January 2004. Overall, the Committee believed that banking and financial service providers should strive to deliver the same level and quality of service to country Australia as they provide to metropolitan areas. It accepted, however, that in some cases this objective cannot be achieved on a commercially viable basis. Nonetheless, the Committee argued that access to a basic banking service is an essential service—that all Australians should have affordable and ready access to a deposit account that receives funds and can be used to make payments. It went on to conclude:

In communities where it is commercially unsustainable for banks to provide face-to-face banking services, the banking industry has an obligation to take all reasonable measures to ensure that consumers have alternative means to access their account. In the Committee's view this obligation extends to providing the education and training necessary for consumers to effectively use the alternatives; working with and providing assistance to communities to find satisfactory solutions to their banking problems; and ensuring that bank practices such as charges and fees and interest rates on loans do not discriminate against people in regional, rural and remote Australia.¹

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Corporations and Financial Services, *Money Matters in the Bush*, January 2004, executive summary.

Page 2 Chapter 1

1.3 In turning specifically to the use of ATMs, the Committee expressed its concern with the fees being charged on foreign ATMs. It noted the discrepancy between fees incurred for using an ATM of one's own bank compared with another bank's ATM. The following table clearly shows the differences in charges for using an ATM operated by one's own bank as against another bank's ATM. In 2002, the charge was over double.

Table 1.1: Deposit Account Transaction Charges of Major Banks (a) 3

	1991	1995	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002
Deposit accounts:							
Account-Servicing (per month) (b)	0.00	2.00	3.50	3.75	3.75	3.75	5.25
Fees per excess transaction							
- Counter withdrawals	0.50	1.00	2.00	2.15	2.15	2.75	2.50
- Cheques	0.50	0.70	0.65	0.75	0.75	0.90	1.00
- Own bank's ATM	0.30	0.40	0.55	0.60	0.60	0.65	0.60
- Other bank's ATM	0.30	0.40	1.05	1.30	1.40	1.40	1.40
- EFTPOS	0.30	0.40	0.45	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.45
- Telephone	NA	NA	0.30	0.35	0.35	0.45	0.45
- Internet	NA	NA	0.20	0.30	0.30	0.25	0.25
Number of free transactions (monthly) c)	11	11	8	8	8	8	
Range of minimum balances required to waive account-servicing fees (\$)	0-500	300- 500	500	500- 2000	500- 2000	2000	

⁽a) Average for four largest banks. Based on public information on selected, widely used accounts. As at June of each year.

Sources: Cannex; RBA

New data collected by the Reserve Bank of Australia shows that 'foreign ATM transactions have increased significantly to more than 40 per cent of ATM cash withdrawals in 2002, up from around 30 per cent in 1999'. Reserve Bank of Australia, 'The Changing Australian Retail Payments Landscape; *Reserve Bank of Australia Bulletin*, July 2003, p. 7.

The Table is a compilation of figures taken from *Reserve Bank of Australia Bulletin*, June 1999, p. 3; July 2001, p. 3; and April 2003, p. 3. There is a discrepancy in the figure given for 2001 for fees on cheques with the 2001 figures recording a fee of \$1.00.

_

⁽b) Some banks offer rebates/waivers based on either the transaction account balance or the overall 'relationship' balance.

⁽c) All accounts that charge a monthly account-servicing fee allow some fee-free transactions.

1.4 Considering the increasing reliance on ATMs as a primary means to access cash and obtain an account balance, the Committee believed this situation was especially relevant for people living in regional and remote Australia where there are fewer banking alternatives. The following table shows the rate at which ATMs have mushroomed throughout Australia over recent years.

Table 1.2: ATMs in	Australia	1990-2002 ⁴
--------------------	-----------	------------------------

Points of Access to the Australian Payments System				
	ATMs		ATMs	
June 1990	4 636	June 1997	8 670	
June 1991	4 956	June 1998	9 472	
June 1992	5 314	June 1999	10 089	
June 1993	5 483	June 2000	11 819	
June 1994	5 910	June 2001	13 289	
June 1995	6 422	June 2002	16 398	
June 1996	7 465	June 2003	21 603	
		1		

1.5 The Committee's report, *Money Matters in the Bush*, discussed briefly the work being undertaken by the ATM Industry Steering Group (AISG) and the reforms proposed to change the current ATM fee structure. In light of the weight of evidence about the lack of competition in some country areas, the Committee was not convinced that the AISG had fully and thoroughly taken account of the absence of competition in some areas of regional, rural and remote Australia when proposing its reforms. The Committee recommended that:

... the ATM Industry Steering Group include in its considerations on the reform of ATM interchange fee arrangements the special circumstances of fees and charges associated with the use of foreign ATMs in rural, regional and remote Australia. The focus of the group would be on building into any proposed reform of the ATM fee structure safeguards that would ensure that people living in country towns and remote communities do not incur significantly higher fees or charges for using a foreign ATM and that an

⁴ Reserve Bank of Australia, C05 Points of Access to the Australian Payments System, http://www.rba.gov.au/Statistics/Bulletin/index.html#table_C (updated version, 9 July 2003); Australian Payments Clearing Association Limited, Number of ATMs and EFTPOS terminals, http://www.apca.com.au/Public/apca01_live.nsf/All/B59D1DB6DBB94A256DB (9 October 2003).

Page 4 Chapter 1

unreasonable or unwarranted differential in fees and charges between those in rural and remote areas and those in metropolitan areas does not develop.⁵

1.6 Having made this recommendation, the Committee nonetheless decided that further inquiry was necessary to determine whether those living in regional, rural and remote Australia would reap the benefits of any proposed reform to the ATM fee structure. The Committee held a public hearing devoted to this matter on 5 November 2003 and has produced this supplementary report as a means to highlight its concerns.

Conduct of the inquiry

- 1.7 The Committee did not call for additional submissions on the matter of ATM fees. It invited a number of banking and consumer organisations and groups representing the interests of people living in country Australia to attend a special public hearing to debate the work being undertaken by the AISG.
- 1.8 In preparing this report, the Committee drew heavily on the following sources:
- Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access;
- Parliamentary Joint Statutory Committee on Corporations and Securities, *Report on Fees on Electronic and Telephone Banking*;
- ATM Industry Steering Group, Direct Charging for 'Foreign' Automatic Teller Machine (ATM) Transactions in Australia;
- Australian Consumers' Association, submission to the ATM Industry Steering Group on Interchange Fee Reform; and
- oral evidence taken during the Committee's public hearing, which took the form of a roundtable discussion, held on 5 November 2003.

In addition, the Committee relied on the evidence presented to it throughout its inquiry into the level of banking and financial services available to Australians living in rural, regional and remote Australia.

- 1.9 The Committee received a total of 133 submissions to the broader inquiry together with a number of supplementary ones. A list of submissions is contained in Appendix 1. All but three of the written submissions were made public documents.
- 1.10 After initial consideration of the submissions, the Committee commenced its program of public hearings in Canberra on 12 and 14 November 2002. They were followed by further hearings in Sydney, Melbourne, Adelaide and Darwin as well as in some regional areas including Tanunda and Jamestown in South Australia,

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Corporations and Financial Services, *Money Matters in the Bush*, December 2003, p. 181.

Yarraman, Nanango, Toowoomba and Boonah in Queensland, and Daly River and Alice Springs in the Northern Territory. The Committee also made field visits to a number of small towns including Yacka and Port Broughton in South Australia, and Blackbutt and Crows Nest in Queensland to inspect their banking facilities. As noted earlier, the Committee held a special roundtable discussion on 5 November 2003 to take evidence on the ATM fee structure.

1.11 Details of the hearings and the witnesses who appeared at them are contained in Appendix 2. The Hansard transcript of evidence taken at the hearings was made available on the internet.

Acknowledgments

1.12 The Committee thanks everyone who contributed to the inquiry.

CHAPTER 2

PROPOSED DIRECT CHARGING REGIME

Introduction

- 2.1 In March 2003, the ATM Industry Steering Group (AISG) released a discussion paper on proposed reforms to the ATM interchange fee arrangements. At present, retail ATM fees are imposed by institutions on their cardholders. ATM owners/operators do not charge fees directly to the cardholder. When cardholders transact through foreign ATMs, the cardholder's institution pays an interchange fee to the ATM owner/operator.
- 2.2 The AISG discussion paper canvassed changes to the current system. It proposed a direct charging regime whereby an ATM owner/operator may levy a direct charge on all cardholders that use its ATM service. This charge is determined by the ATM owner operator and debited to the cardholder's account at the time of transaction. A charge may also be set by the card issuer to enable it to process the transaction.
- 2.3 The Committee notes that the reforms proposed by the AISG place a heavy reliance on competition both to improve consumer access to ATM terminals and to contain the fees and charges attached to their use. In theory, the reasoning appears compelling but in practice, as shown in the Committee's main report, competition can produce winners and losers. In many cases, those living in regional, rural and remote Australia have not been the beneficiaries of competition in the banking industry. With this in mind, the Committee decided to look closely at the current ATM fee structure, the proposed changes to this structure and its likely influence on those living in country Australia.
- 2.4 In this chapter, the Committee:
- examines the current bilateral interchange fee structure;
- reviews the findings of the study by the Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission into the efficiency of the ATM networks;
- discusses the work of the AISG and their proposal to reform the ATM fee structure; and
- analyses the proposed direct charge fee structure and its implications for those living in rural, regional and remote Australia.

¹ See chapter 5 of the main report, *Money Matters in the Bush*.

Page 8 Chapter 2

The current ATM fees and charges

2.5 An ATM transaction can involve at least three parties—the cardholder, the card issuer (the financial institution that issues the debit card) and the financial institution that owns the ATM. There are infrastructure costs associated with the establishment and maintenance of the ATM network as well as costs associated with stocking the machine with cash and processing transactions. Financial institutions seek to recover the costs associated with an ATM transaction and earn a return on their capital investment in the ATM facility by imposing a charge.

2.6 In the case of their own customers, financial institutions normally treat access to their ATM as part of a transaction account. According to the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) and the Australian Competition and Consumer Association (ACCC):

The costs of providing that account are recovered through account maintenance fees, payment of below-market rates of interest on balances and transaction fees, which normally allow a number of fee-free transactions per month.²

2.7 The situation is different for a transaction using a foreign ATM. Currently around 40 per cent of ATM transactions are undertaken by customers using ATMs owned by other financial institutions.³ In such cases, the customer does not have an account with the ATM owner and the owner must seek to recoup costs in other ways. The RBA and the ACCC explained in greater detail:

Under the present interchange model, a cardholder, (where charged for foreign ATM transactions) pays a single, bundled fee (that includes the cost of the interchange fee) to their financial institution or card issuer for a foreign ATM transaction. The card issuer transmits the majority of the foreign fee to the ATM owner/operator in exchange for provision of ATM access ⁴

Under a direct charging model the components of the foreign ATM fee would be unbundled and a system with no interchange payments implemented.⁵

2.8 To facilitate the current interchange arrangement, the ATM owner enters into a bilateral agreement with the card issuer who wants its customers to have access to that particular ATM network. According to the RBA and the ACCC:

Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access,* October 2000, p. 33.

New data collected by the Reserve Bank of Australia shows that 'foreign ATM transactions have increased significantly to more than 40 per cent of ATM cash withdrawals in 2002, up from around 30 per cent in 1999'. Reserve Bank of Australia, 'The Changing Australian Retail Payments Landscape; *Reserve Bank of Australia Bulletin*, July 2003, p. 7.

⁴ ATM Industry Steering Group, Discussion Paper, p. 16 of 24.

⁵ ATM Industry Steering Group, Discussion Paper, p. 16 of 24.

The agreement covers matters such as the authorisation of transactions and technical procedures, and includes an interchange fee to be paid by the issuer to the ATM owner. The interchange fee is the wholesale price of access to the ATM network, and is designed to reimburse the ATM owner for costs incurred in providing a service to the issuer's customers.⁶

- 2.9 In 2000, there were almost 60 bilateral interchange agreements in Australia. Although interchange fees vary from agreement to agreement, within each agreement the interchange fee is the same for all transactions of a certain type initiated by the issuer's customers no matter where the ATMs are located.⁷
- 2.10 The fees are determined in confidential agreements and other participants in the ATM networks do not know the full range of interchange fees. In 2000, according to the RBA and ACCC, interchange fees for cash withdrawals averaged around \$1.03 per transaction and have changed little over the past decade. The cost of providing ATM cash withdrawals averaged \$0.49 per transaction.⁸

Study by the Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission

- 2.11 In 2000, the Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission conducted a study which concentrated on two aspects of the ATM network—interchange fees and the conditions of entry into the industry. The study was concerned with the economic efficiency of the networks and whether they were delivering the best possible service at the lowest cost to consumers. 10
- 2.12 While the average cost of an ATM withdrawal is just under \$0.50, the study showed that interchange fees are a substantial mark-up on the costs of providing ATM services. Card issuers pass these fees on in full to their customers using foreign ATMs

Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access*, October 2000, footnote 16, p. 33.

Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access*, October 2000, footnote 16, p. 33.

Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access,* October 2000, p. ii. This figure differs slightly from the amount of \$1.06 given on page 33 of the study.

⁹ Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access*, October 2000, p. i.

¹⁰ Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access*, October 2000, p. i.

Page 10 Chapter 2

with many issuers adding a further margin.¹¹ Indeed, interchange fees paid to ATM owners averaged just over \$1.00 for cash withdrawals, which is double the average cost. The study accepted that some of this margin could represent the 'required return on capital'. Despite the lack of data on the 'required rate of return on capital', the study estimated that 'a margin over costs of only a few cents per transaction would yield a competitive rate of return on capital for the provision of ATM services'.¹² Approximately half of the institutions charge their customers more than the maximum interchange fee they pay, often substantially more.

- 2.13 Similarly, the study found a substantial mark-up over the costs for balance enquiries where the average interchange fee for a balance enquiry was \$0.74. This fee represented twice the average cost. Again, most card issuers attached an additional margin when passing the fee on to customers. Indeed, the study maintained that many card issuers charge the same foreign ATM fee for balance enquiries as for cash withdrawals despite the interchange fees for this transaction being lower.¹³
- 2.14 The study also showed that ATM interchange fees have remained largely unchanged over the past decade even though there are grounds to believe that costs may have fallen. It suggested that ATMs have become cheaper, that at the upper end of the range they have become more sophisticated and are capable of undertaking a variety of functions while at the other end there are now more basic, low-cost machines available. It also pointed to the substantial reduction in costs of data processing and telecommunications equipment. In brief, it concluded that 'if ATM interchange fees were initially based on costs, they have not shown any flexibility in responding to costs in recent years'. 14
- 2.15 Dr John Veale, Acting Assistant Governor (Financial System), RBA, told the Committee that the joint study had trouble reconciling the large gap between the \$0.50 cost of providing the service and the average of about \$1.35 that was actually charged. ¹⁵
- 2.16 Moreover, the study could not see competitive forces that were likely to push the two numbers closer together. In other words, the substantial margin between ATM

Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access*, October 2000, pp. 36–7.

Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access*, October 2000, p. 38.

Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access*, October 2000, p. 37.

Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access,* October 2000, p. 38.

¹⁵ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 610.

interchange costs and fees had not generated the competitive pressure necessary to drive interchange fees downward. To explain why interchange fees had not fallen, the study noted the lack of incentive for financial institutions to negotiate lower fees. It explained:

For financial institutions as a whole, interchange fees are not a cost; fees paid and received net out to zero, but institutions receive a flow of revenue from foreign ATM fees. Cardholders have the strongest interest in lower interchange fees but cannot influence ATM owners directly. They do not see the interchange fee; they only see the foreign ATM fee. Under current arrangements, their only alternative is to restrict withdrawals to their own institution's ATMs or to undertake the costly process of moving their transaction account to another institution which charges lower foreign ATM fees. Under these circumstances, it is relatively easy for card issuers to pass on the whole cost (or more than the whole cost) of the interchange fees to their cardholders. ¹⁶

In Dr Veale's words, the card issuers had no incentive to say to ATM owners, 'we want you to lower the fees' because the issuers in turn 'simply passed those fees on to cardholders and added a margin to it in the form of the foreign ATM fee'. 17

2.17 The study suggested that alternatives were available to the current interchange model including a 'direct charge' system. It could see advantages in such a regime that would encourage transaction fees to move more in line with costs and promote transparency. It stated that such a system would for a start put 'the ATM owner in a direct economic relationship with the cardholder, rather than only an indirect one via the issuer'. It explained further:

If the consumer is to exert any direct influence on pricing—for example, by patronising the less expensive ATMs—this regime would achieve it more effectively than the present system.

As an additional factor, under current arrangements the ATM owner receives the same interchange fee for an ATM withdrawal from a given issuer, regardless of where that transaction is undertaken. High-cost locations are therefore subsidised by low-cost ATMs. Under a direct charging regime, in contrast, ATM owners could vary the transaction fee according to the per unit cost of individual machines. This would provide an incentive to place more ATMs in higher cost (eg remote) locations, offering greater convenience for consumers willing to pay. ¹⁸

Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access*, October 2000, p. 40.

¹⁷ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 610.

¹⁸ Reserve Bank of Australia and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, *Debit and Credit Card Schemes in Australia: A Study of Interchange Fees and Access*, October 2000, p. 41.

Page 12 Chapter 2

2.18 According to the study, direct charging would also make transaction charges obvious to ATM users.

Inquiry by the Parliamentary Joint Statutory Committee on Corporations and Securities

- 2.19 During 2000, the Parliamentary Joint Statutory Committee on Corporations and Securities conducted an inquiry into fees on electronic and telephone banking. As part of its inquiry, the Committee examined the fee structure of ATMs.
- 2.20 The major issue before the Committee was whether deregulation and competition had resulted in a more efficient market with increased benefits for consumers, or whether market forces had failed, bringing little benefit to retail customers.
- 2.21 It heard evidence, mainly from the banks, that supported the view that competition, including market-based pricing, was the best way to increase benefits for consumers. They argued that the deregulation of financial markets had led to a user pays principle for retail transaction accounts and explicit fees for services which translated into a more efficient financial system that was fairer to consumers. ¹⁹ It also heard arguments that challenged this view that effective competition existed between the banks and therefore that competition had been of benefit to retail customers. Those taking this position questioned the proposition that the free market would control fee increases. ²⁰
- 2.22 The Committee recommended that interchange fees between banks in relation to foreign ATM transactions be abolished immediately and replaced by direct charging with the effect of reducing foreign ATM transaction fees from approximately \$1.50 to \$0.50.²¹
- 2.23 The Labor members of the Committee opposed the introduction of the proposed direct charging regime. They were concerned that direct charging of ATM fees would allow ATM owners to charge a different fee for each individual ATM based on their different costs. Thus, ATMs with high volumes of transactions would normally have lower fees than ATMs with low volumes of transactions. They concluded:

...introducing a direct charging fee regime for ATMs without a commitment from the banks on the level of bank fees would lead to increases in ATM

¹⁹ Parliamentary Joint Statutory Committee on Corporations and Securities, *Report on Fees on Electronic and Telephone Banking*, February 2001, p. 3.

²⁰ ibid. For example see arguments put forward by the Consumer Law Centre Victoria Limited, p. 8.

²¹ ibid, p. 37.

fees in rural and regional areas where the costs of providing ATM services are greater.²²

2.24 In September 2001, the Committee²³ wrote to fifteen banks and other organisations requesting advice on developments in fee disclosure regimes, with particular reference to the conclusions and recommendations of the Committee's Report.²⁴ Few of the twelve respondents commented on the recommendation to introduce a direct charge regime. Those who did refer to the recommendation, pointed to their participation in the work of an industry steering group convened by the RBA.

The Committee now looks at the work of this group.

The ATM Industry Steering Group (AISG) and its proposal for the introduction of a direct charge regime

- 2.25 The AISG is an industry working group formed to facilitate discussions about the options for reform of ATM interchange fee arrangements. In March 2003, it released a discussion paper for public consultation on proposed reforms to the ATM interchange fee arrangements. The paper put forward a direct charge model and invited public comment on its proposal.
- 2.26 The reform of the fee structure will require regulatory approval through authorisation by the ACCC. The intention of the AISG is, after consulting with stakeholders and the resolution of key implementation issues, to develop a model for reform to be presented to the ACCC.
- 2.27 Under its direct charge model, the framework of bilateral interchange fees would be dismantled. The proposed model removes the need for the card issuer to reimburse the ATM owner/operator for providing the ATM service and hence for the card issuer to recover the interchange fee from cardholders. Instead, an ATM owner/operator would levy a direct charge on all cardholders who use its ATM service. The size of this charge would be determined solely by the owner/operator and

Labor Members Report, *Bank Fees: Up, Up and Away*, in Parliamentary Joint Statutory Committee on Corporations and Securities, *Report on Fees on Electronic and Telephone Banking*, February 2001, p. 2.

Subsequent to the commencement of the Financial Services Reform Act 2001 on 11 March 2002, the name of the Parliamentary Joint Statutory Committee on Corporations and Securities changed. Schedule 1, Part 2 of the Act, at 5 Paragraph 1(1) (d), amended the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001 so that the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Corporations and Securities became the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Corporations and Financial Services (Part 14 of the ASIC Act).

Organisations contacted included Adelaide Bank Ltd, ANZ Banking Group Ltd, Bank of Queensland Ltd, Bank of Western Australia Ltd, Bendigo Bank, Commonwealth Bank of Australia, National Australia Bank Ltd, St George Bank Ltd, Suncorp-Metway Ltd, Westpac Banking Corporation, the Australian Banking Industry Ombudsman, Australian Banker's Association, Credit Union Service Corporation (Aust) Ltd, Australian Association of Permanent Building Societies, and the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

Page 14 Chapter 2

debited to the cardholder's account at the time of the transaction. The fee for providing the service should reflect the costs of providing the service plus a margin for return on investment.²⁵ In other words, the ATM interchange fee would be set at zero and the components of the foreign fee would be unbundled.

2.28 This unbundling of the foreign fee creates two elements—a charge set by the ATM owner/operator to provide the ATM service and the charge set by the card issuer to enable it to process the transaction. The paper explained further:

In this way a fee may be charged directly to the cardholder by the ATM owner/operator, with the option of a separate fee charged by the card issuer that processes the transactions. The amount of the ATM owner/operator and card issuer fees would reflect the cost of providing access to the ATM networks and a margin for a return on investment. It would be a requirement that the ATM owner/operator fee is disclosed in real time, at the point of the transaction and that any issuer fee should be transparent and clear to cardholders.²⁶

- 2.29 In formulating its proposal for reform, the Steering Group identified the following nine principles as the basis for the development of a direct charging model for foreign ATMs:
- the interchange fee would be reduced to zero;
- the existing foreign fee would be unbundled and become two fees, the ATM owner/operator fee and the issuer fee;
- ATM owners/operators would be permitted to charge a fee directly to any cardholder using their ATM;
- the amount of the fee would be at the discretion of each ATM owner/operator and fees may vary according to several factors;
- a cardholder would be notified of this charge prior to committing to the transaction;
- card issuers would be permitted to charge a transaction-based fee to cardholders;
- the amount of the fee would be at the discretion of each issuer and fees may vary according to several factors;
- ATM owners/operators and card issuers would ensure that these charges are transparent and obvious to cardholders;
- the amount of the unregulated ATM owner and card issuer fee would reflect the cost of providing access to ATM networks and a margin for a return on investment.²⁷

²⁵ ATM Industry Steering Group, Discussion Paper, p. 16 of 24.

²⁶ ATM Industry Steering Group, Discussion Paper, p. 3 of 24.

²⁷ ATM Industry Steering Group, Discussion Paper, p. 21 of 24.

- 2.30 The main argument in favour of direct charging is that more flexible pricing of ATM transactions would 'facilitate a balance between demand for ATM services and the supply of these services that is efficient for the community'. It would establish an environment for price competition between ATM service providers where the freedom to set fees would be 'expected to stimulate provision of ATM services and make them flexible and responsive to changes in costs and cardholder demand'. Such a model 'would assist competition by making cardholders more aware of the costs of ATM services offered through different machines and by different ATM owners/operators'. The discussion paper maintained that increased competition brought about by the increased transparency of prices to cardholders should align fees more closely to costs without the need for any regulatory control of cardholder pricing.
- 2.31 It argued further that the proposed model would result in improved service delivery in currently under-serviced locations because the deregulation of fee levels would enable suppliers to charge to cover the cost of establishing and maintaining terminals in such locations.³¹
- 2.32 Contrary to this viewpoint, consumer representatives were not confident that the proposed reforms would produce the anticipated benefits for customers.³² To test the veracity of the assumptions made about the proposed direct charge regime, the Committee conducted a public hearing in the form of a roundtable discussion.

Views on the proposal to introduce a direct charge regime

2.33 During the discussion, Mr David Bell, CEO, Australian Bankers' Association, reiterated the advantages expected to flow from a direct charge regime. He explained that one of the clear benefits of the proposed reforms is that ATM services will be available in locations that currently do not have them and under the current system are highly unlikely to have them.³³ He referred to the 21,000 ATMs in Australia and stated.

A lot of country towns do have ATMs and, under these proposed reforms, there will be even more ATMs for country users to use. This is one of the great benefits of these reforms. If these reforms do not go through, some of your constituents, if you like, will not have the benefit of using ATMs.³⁴

²⁸ ibid, p. 7.

²⁹ ATM Industry Steering Group, Discussion Paper, p. 17 of 24.

³⁰ ibid, p. 7.

³¹ ibid, pp. 17–18.

³² See Australian Consumers' Association, Submission to the ATM Industry Steering Group on Interchange Reform.

³³ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 627.

³⁴ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 630.

Page 16 Chapter 2

2.34 He also argued that additional competition would have the effect of placing downward pressure on prices.³⁵ He drew on the general economic argument that if you increase the supply of ATMs, necessarily the price should drop.³⁶ In summary, he maintained that financial services customers and the wider community would benefit from a direct charge regime because there would be:

- pricing transparency—ATM owners would be required to notify users of the service fee before an ATM transaction is undertaken;
- cost-reflected pricing—ATM owners would be encouraged to better align user fees with underlying costs; and
- improved rural accessibility—ATM owners would be attracted to rural areas because of the ability to cover costs.³⁷
- 2.35 The Committee accepts the advantages that transparency in price delivers to the customer and without hesitation supports moves to improve transparency especially the introduction of a real time fee disclosure regime for ATMs. This recommendation was made in the Committee's 2001 report on fees on electronic and telephone banking and, for the purposes of this report, the Committee underlines this recommendation and urges the banking industry to move ahead expeditiously with this proposal.
- 2.36 The Committee, however, believes that the assumptions underpinning the pricing and accessibility aspects of the proposed reform need further exploration. The following section looks at the likely influences of the proposal on the fees and charges for ATM services and their availability. The focus is on ATM services in rural, regional and remote Australia.

The pricing and accessibility of ATM services in rural, regional and remote Australia under the direct charging regime

- 2.37 In addressing the issue of whether direct charging would result in rural customers paying too much for foreign transactions, Mr David Bell noted that differential pricing has not been a feature of banking in Australia since the deregulation of the system in the 1980s. He identified four main constraints that, in his opinion, would ensure that ATM fees would not be excessive:
- the actual costs of providing ATM services in regional Australia which he suggested are not much different from providing services in non-regional Australia;
- the ability of customers to go to other ATMs, EFTPOS and giroPost if pricing were too high;

-

³⁵ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 628.

³⁶ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 622.

³⁷ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 609.

- low barriers to entry and the very vibrant ATM industry in Australia; and
- the reputation of financial institutions and the importance for them to demonstrate that prices are fair, reasonable and represent value for money.³⁸

In the following section, the Committee examines these four main forces identified as likely to keep fees in check.

Costs of providing the service

- 2.38 Dr Veale conceded that there would be some areas where ATM costs would be more than they are now but that increase would almost certainly occur in places where ATMs were not currently located.³⁹ Overall, he anticipated that on average competitive pressures would push prices down because 'there is that big gap between the \$0.50 cost of providing these services and the \$1.35 that people are paying at the moment', 40
- 2.39 Mr Bell could see no reason for costs to push ATM prices in regional, rural and remote Australia ahead of those in metropolitan areas. He stated:

...clearly, the rent in Wagga is going to be less than in Collins Street. However, the throughput in Collins Street is probably going to be more than in Wagga and probably the things will balance out.⁴¹

2.40 Mr Chris Connolly, Director, Financial Services Consumer Policy Centre, University of New South Wales, observed that usually the line from financial institutions is exactly the opposite. In his experience, banks maintain that there are additional expenses in providing services in regional areas: that they have to spend more money to service regional customers than city customers. ⁴² Indeed, this interpretation is consistent with the evidence before the Committee which certainly indicated that ADIs are reluctant to provide ATMs to areas in Australia where markets are small and distant from major centres because of the costs involved in installing and servicing such facilities. ⁴³ The costs of transporting cash are also significant. For

³⁸ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 616.

³⁹ Ms Michele Bullock supported this view with her statement that 'What you can say is that where there are not currently ATMs, it costs more than \$1 per transaction to put one there.' *Committee Hansard*, 5 November 2003, p. 632.

⁴⁰ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 632.

⁴¹ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 621. Mr Bell explained some of the component costs which included—operations, signage, switching and transaction processing, the cost of holding cash, locking, balancing and sourcing it, communications line rental, installation, leasing, appreciation, maintenance costs and rent. He stated further that he did make a statement that 'there is an equivalency between city and country ATM sites for different reasons, so from a cost basis there is likely to be an equivalency'. Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 626.

⁴² *Committee Hansard*, 5 November 2003, p. 625.

See Parliamentary Joint Committee on Corporations and Financial Services, *Money Matters in the Bush*, chapter 11, paragraphs 11.18 and 11.19.

Page 18 Chapter 2

example Mr David Shoobridge, Town Clerk, Nauiyu Nambiyu Community Government Council, observed that banks are not anxious to provide ATMs to isolated areas given the problems of security of the machine and its contents and the high costs of servicing the equipment.⁴⁴

2.41 Dr Veale looked at the costs associated with providing an ATM service from another aspect. In his opinion, advances in technology would continue to dampen the costs of providing an ATM service particularly in rural, regional and remote Australia. He explained:

...as the ATM market reaches out into smaller or more remote areas, you are finding smaller ATMs which can accommodate and still be economic with much lower transaction volumes; in some cases as low as, I would say, 600 a month—that is 150 a week, it is not a whole lot of transactions. They are some of the numbers you are seeing in the US, and even smaller numbers. Those sorts of ATMs are being complemented by a different business model where what happens is that the local pharmacist, for instance, recycles his cash by putting it back into the ATM. So you find a way of saving the pharmacist some money—he solves some transport problems—and he provides a service back to the customers by providing the cash. So there are ways in which, with different business models and smaller ATMs, you can get the costs down, and the technology is helping us here. Ten or 15 years ago, that was not on the horizon; it is now very much in evidence in places.

He stated further:

I think that, 10 years ago, if you looked to see what was a viable ATM size, it would have been 20,000 to 30,000 transactions a month, something of that order; we can look up the numbers for you. If you look back 10 years, you would have to say, 'Right, having an ATM in this town, it's going to have to do 30,000 transactions.' The technology today is very different. The number that is now viable is much smaller. There are towns 10 years ago that could have only supported one ATM. These days, different business models and technology mean that towns that could only support one ATM in terms of the number of transactions can clearly support smaller numbers and be competitive. So you have a change there. The two-person town clearly is an issue.⁴⁶

2.42 The Committee accepts that advances in modern technology and developments in the design of ATMs have allowed the production of machines that are smaller and easier to maintain. Nonetheless, the Committee believes that the costs involved in maintaining and servicing the machine, particularly in remote areas, will remain relatively high while at the same time the turnover remains relatively low.

45 Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 623.

⁴⁴ ibid, p. 237.

⁴⁶ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 624.

Alternatives to ATMs

- 2.43 Dr Veale explained that if the interchange fee is abolished and the ATM owner charges the cardholder directly, the cardholder, if he or she does not like the price at one ATM, would always be able to go to another. In his view, provided there is a line of people willing to put in ATMs in different parts of the country, that would at least put on some competitive pressure.⁴⁷
- 2.44 Reinforcing this view, Mr Bell told the Committee that if prices are too high customers have the option of avoiding these charges by choosing another means to withdraw cash. He stated:

They can go to other ATMs, EFTPOS and giroPost, so there are other competitive factors that would militate against excessive fees or even fee hikes.⁴⁸

- 2.45 Put simply, the theory argues that if ATM owners do not peg their prices at an appropriate level, people will not use them. Mr Gordon Anderson, Australian Association of Permanent Building Societies, supported this view. He stated bluntly that if the fee is too high, the ATM will not be used and it will force either the ATM to close down or the price to be reduced to one that the market finds acceptable. He explained further 'or they could go to an alternative. There is EFTPOS, giroPost, Australia Post; there are alternatives.'
- 2.46 This argument may well apply in areas where there is competition but has no practical application where competition is weak. Ms Jenni Chandler, CEO, Reconciliation Australia, argued that this reasoning ignored the realities of banking in remote areas. She told the Committee:

They do not have the luxury of patronising a less expensive ATM because, in many instances, there is no less expensive ATM; there is only one, and invariably it will be a foreign ATM for them as far as their bank is concerned. So they are paying very expensive fees now and my concern is that, as Chris Connolly mentioned, prices will rise quickly and be unregulated and that Indigenous people will therefore be, in many respects, paying or subsidising fees that are cheaper elsewhere.⁵⁰

⁴⁷ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 611.

⁴⁸ *Committee Hansard*, 5 November 2003, p. 616.

⁴⁹ *Committee Hansard*, 5 November 2003, pp. 637–8.

Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 615. See also the submission by the Australian Consumers Association in response to the AISG's discussion paper, p. 3. It stated 'Customers in lower volume areas are unlikely markets for such competition both on the basis that costs of establishing and maintaining ATM terminals in their areas are greater, and costs recovered through direct charges will therefore be higher, and they have less opportunity to shop around to exert downward pressure on prices. A clear analogy is petrol pricing, where urban consumers consistently pay power petrol prices than regional and rural consumers.'

Page 20 Chapter 2

2.47 Indeed, the Committee found again and again during its broader inquiry into the availability of banking and financial services in regional, rural and remote Australia that some areas in the country are struggling to support one ATM or EFTPOS service. People living in such communities simply do not have a range of banking options before them. In effect, they are a captive market unable to exert pressure on financial institutions to better serve their interests.

2.48 The Committee appreciates that under the proposed regime there are localities in rural, regional and remote Australia that, because of the higher costs in delivering the service and the low turnover, may face higher fees for using a foreign ATM. In many cases the higher charge may genuinely reflect the cost of providing that service and may provide an acceptable and indeed welcome service for the community. The Committee, however, is concerned that without safeguards built into a direct charging regime, people living in towns and communities where there are few banking options may face charges well in excess of the costs involved in providing the service.

New entrants to the industry

- 2.49 To counter the temptation to charge high fees, Dr Veale suggested that the low costs and unrestricted entry to the market means that if somebody does try to take advantage then a competitor will come in to undercut the current provider.⁵¹ In his opinion, the barriers to entry in providing ATMs are low.⁵² He cited the increase in the number of independent deployers, who account for about 30 per cent of ATM operators, as an example of the ease of entry into the industry.⁵³
- 2.50 Consumer groups, however, drew attention to low volume areas which are unlikely markets to attract competition. Overall, Mr Connolly argued that, 'once this is unregulated and it is a free-for-all, the fees will go up, and unless there are guarantees and price monitoring put into the authorisation, then any theoretical discussion today about what might or might not happen will not help consumers once the reforms are put through'.⁵⁴
- 2.51 One of the recurring themes in the Committee's report was the absence of robust competition in the retail banking industry in country Australia with the consequent erosion of banking services in these areas and the lack of new entrants to make up for the shortfall. In brief, it found that the provision of retail banking services in regional, rural and remote Australia is not driven by competition and hence the market is sluggish in responding to consumer demands.⁵⁵

_

⁵¹ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 623.

⁵² Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 624.

⁵³ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 625.

⁵⁴ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 625.

⁵⁵ See chapter 5 of the main report, *Money Matters in the Bush*.

Banks and their reputation

- 2.52 During the roundtable discussion, Mr Bell referred to the issue of reputation and the need for financial institutions 'to demonstrate that prices are fair and reasonable and represent value for money'. Apart from this reference, little discussion was generated about whether the desire of banks to uphold their reputation would be a significant force in keeping ATM prices down in regional, rural and remote Australia.
- 2.53 In looking specifically at fees and charges, the Australian Consumers' Association feared that the unbundling of the foreign ATM fee would provide an opportunity for increased fees. It referred to bank annual and interim reports which, in its view, regularly demonstrate the enormous contribution increased fee revenue has made to the above-average profitability of the Australian banking sector. It submitted further:

Australian banks do not have a good track record of passing on cost reductions to consumers, or keeping fees tied to the cost of providing a service. Fees continue to proliferate, with banks finding new ways of levying charges on consumers. From increased fees for over-the-counter transactions, to electronic, penalty and credit card annual fees, banks have used fees to boost profits and direct consumer behaviour. 57

2.54 Mrs Margaret Brown, Country Women's Association of New South Wales, typified the attitude of many retail banking customers in country Australia when she told the Committee:

We have had a lot of theory today but when it comes down to the practice of living in rural areas, the rhetoric is not being matched by practice. I do not care if there are 21,000 ATMs in Australia, how many are in a suburb of Sydney or Melbourne, how many are in the average country town of 500 or 600 people?⁵⁸

2.55 The Committee remains concerned that while the desire of banks to maintain a respected standing in the community and to avoid any public backlash may act as a dampener on increasing prices, it would in the long term offer no guarantee that they would act to keep prices low.

Summary of views on the direct charging proposal

2.56 Without doubt, witnesses to the Committee were not happy with the current interchange arrangements and advocated a change to the existing fee structure. It was recognised as too inflexible and resulted in prices bearing little resemblance to the costs associated with providing an ATM service. Mr Luke Lawler from CUSCAL

⁵⁶ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 616.

⁵⁷ Submission in response to the ATM Industry Steering Group's discussion paper, p.5.

⁵⁸ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 636.

Page 22 Chapter 2

concurred with the findings of the joint study by the RBA and the ACCC that there were problems with the current interchange arrangements.⁵⁹

2.57 Some, however, expressed serious doubts about whether the proposed direct charge regime would produce the anticipated benefits for consumers in regional, rural and remote Australia. There was a real concern that while accessibility to ATM services might improve, several adverse consequences could result.

2.58 Mr Connolly stated:

I think the risk is that all ATM operators outside the big cities will not be under any competitive pressure or, now, any regulatory settings which restrict them from charging whatever they like, or from now closing down. To me, these reforms are a green light to banks to say, 'We're out of here because there is an ATM in the service station down the road or the convenience store.' The service station and convenience store are not open 24 hours a day, seven days a week, and that is the distinction between what people in the city will be offered and what people in the bush will get.⁶⁰

2.59 He explained further:

In essence, what they are asking the regional consumer to accept is that fees will go up for ATM use in regional and remote areas. That is a fundamental pillar of the reforms. As a result, for city customers, they will pay lower costs and they will have a better class of ATMs. They will be full-service ATMs where you can make deposits, they will be loaded by armed security vans et cetera, they will be reliably maintained and available 24 hours a day, seven days a week, because they are on the street front. Regional customers will get higher prices but, in exchange, they will get a lesser quality ATM, usually a very small physical ATM located inside a convenience store or a service station—and therefore not available after hours once that service station or convenience store is closed. It will not be reliably maintained, and it will be filled by the service station attendant et cetera. This is looking more and more like discrimination against regional customers who have already paid over and over again in terms of the reduction in and transformation of banking services through branch closures. 61

Overseas models

2.60 During the public hearing a number of references were made to overseas experiences both to support the introduction of a direct charging regime and to note the warning bells issuing from their experiences.⁶² The Committee did not examine in

⁵⁹ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 612.

⁶⁰ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 630.

⁶¹ Committee Hansard, 5 November 2003, p. 613.

See for example, comments by Mr Veale, Mr Bell, Ms Wolthuizen *Committee Hansard*, 5 November 2003, pp. 611, 616 and 623

any great detail ATM fee regimes in overseas countries. It accepts that the AISG's proposal does not fit exactly any of the models discussed and further that Australia's banking system has developed its own unique features in servicing a country geographically distinct. The Committee, however, notes the conclusions drawn by the RBA from its examination of overseas experiences with direct charging. It found:

These conclusions suggest all ATM owners would be under competitive pressure in a direct charging regime, so long as there are no unreasonable barriers to entry to the ATM business. Direct charging would bring greater availability of ATMs but with higher fees on some machines. These machines may genuinely have higher costs per transaction (for example remoter machines over low transaction volumes) in which case a higher direct fee is an efficient outcome. In most cases those machines would not exist prior to the introduction of direct charges because it was not economic to put ATMs in these higher cost locations when the interchange fee was the only revenue source.⁶³

2.61 Even though Australian regulators may have important lessons to learn from overseas experiences, the Committee emphasises that of far greater importance in considering reforms is to have a thorough appreciation of recent developments in Australia's banking industry, the reasons behind branch closures, the upward trend in bank fees and most importantly the absence of competition in some areas of Australia. Any contemplated changes should give close consideration to these matters.

Committee's views

2.62 Having examined the direct charging regime proposed in the AISG's discussion paper, the Committee remains firm in its belief that in formulating a direct charging regime, safeguards need to be built into the system to ensure that consumers living in regional, rural and remote Australia benefit from the reforms. In particular, the Committee does not believe that there is a case for fees to rise in country Australia. It therefore restates the recommendation made in the main report.

Recommendation 1

The Committee recommends that the ATM Industry Steering Group include in its considerations on the reform of ATM interchange fee arrangements the special circumstances of fees and charges associated with the use of foreign ATMs in rural, regional and remote Australia. The focus of the group would be on building into any proposed reform of the ATM fee structure, safeguards that would ensure that people living in country towns and remote communities do not incur significantly higher fees or charges for using a foreign ATM and that an unreasonable or unwarranted differential in fees and charges between those in rural and remote areas and those in metropolitan areas does not develop.

Reserve Bank of Australia, 'Paying for Using a "foreign" ATM', tabled during public hearing, 5 November 2003.

Page 24 Chapter 2

2.63 The Committee also notes the findings of the RBA and ACCC joint study which showed that the fees charged for obtaining an account balance through an ATM is a substantial mark-up over the costs where the average interchange fee for a balance enquiry was \$0.74. This fee is twice the average cost. In its main report the Committee dealt with fees incurred for inquiries on account statements from the position of a safety net account. The Committee recommended that ADIs make available to their customers, who are concessional card holders and low income earners, a safety net basic bank account which includes measures such as no fees for obtaining account balances.

2.64 In light of the proposed changes to a direct charging regime, the Committee would like to see measures in place that would guarantee that people in rural, regional and remote Australia do not incur charges for obtaining an account statement through an ATM that are significantly higher than the costs for supplying that service.

Recommendation 2

The Committee recommends that the AISG when considering reforms to the ATM fee structure give full consideration to ensuring that the price of obtaining an account balance is kept to a minimum and at the very least is in alignment with the costs associated with delivering the service.

2.65 The Committee draws attention to its findings in this report on real time disclosure of ATM fees and charges⁶⁴ which reinforced recommendations made in the report by the Joint Statutory Committee on Corporations and Securities on Fees on Electronic and Telephone Banking and by the Labor members of that Committee. Their recommendations, made in February 2001, sought the introduction of a real-time disclosure regime for ATMs in no more than two years. The Committee is concerned with the time taken to implement this recommendation.⁶⁵

Recommendation 3

The Committee recommends that, irrespective of progress on the introduction of a direct charging regime, the AISG develop a framework for real-time disclosure of ATM fees and charges to be implemented as soon as practicable. The framework is to ensure that information on the cost of a transaction is made available so that a customer can cancel the transaction before incurring any fee.

The Committee explained that it had not given close attention to overseas regimes mainly because of differences in the overseas models from the one proposed for Australia and the difficulty in translating overseas experiences to Australia's particular circumstances. It noted, however, the importance of giving close attention to recent

⁶⁴ See paragraph 2.36.

Parliamentary Joint Statutory Committee on Corporations and Securities, *Report on Fees on Electronic and Telephone Banking*, February 2001, p. 37 and p. 19 of the Labor Members Report.

developments in Australia's banking industry when considering reforms. The Committee goes further in recommending that if a direct charging regime is introduced, a system for monitoring fees and charges should be in place.

Recommendation 4

The Committee recommends that should a direct charging regime be introduced both the RBA and the ACCC closely monitor shifts in fees and charges for foreign ATM services and report publicly on developments in fees charged.

The Committee recommends further that should a direct charging regime be introduced the RBA produce statistics to show the fees for ATM services in rural, regional and remote Australia and the fees in metropolitan areas. In addition, the Committee recommends that the statistics include as a separate category fees charged for obtaining an account statement.

Conclusion

2.66 Before concluding the discussion on ATMs, the Committee takes the opportunity to emphasise the importance of placing ATMs and other forms of self-service banking in the broader context of banking and financial services in regional, rural and remote Australia. The focus on the delivery of the more elementary aspects of banking should not ignore the much broader issue of the provision of advice and assistance across a range of financial services. According to many witnesses to the broader inquiry, modern technology has not compensated for the loss of face-to-face banking. They argued that while communities in rural, regional and remote Australia may have access to transaction services, many do not have access to comprehensive financial services.

The main report took cognizance of this view and highlighted the importance of addressing all aspects of banking and financial services not just basic banking transactions. While the Committee fully endorses greater access to ATM terminals in rural, regional and remote Australia, it would not like to see such an expansion undermine the overall level and quality of the provision of banking and financial services in country Australia. Access to an ATM is intended to enhance not diminish a customer's relationship with their bank. Thus, any move to change the ATM fee structure should take account not only of potential fee increases but also whether financial institutions will place a growing reliance on ATMs to deliver banking services at the cost of services they would normally have provided face to face.

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY LABOR MEMBERS

FOREIGN ATM FEES AND CHARGES

- 1.1 There is no doubt that Australian consumers are paying too much in foreign ATM fees. On average, the major banks have increased these fees by 250 per cent since 1995. Foreign ATM fees average \$1.35 but can be as high as \$2.00.
- 1.2 The RBA and ACCC noted in their 'Study of Interchange Fees and Access' in October 2000, that interchange fees on ATMs, that is payments from card issuers to ATM operators, average \$1.03. This represents a mark up of more than 100 per cent on the average cost to financial institutions of delivering such services of \$0.49.
- 1.3 The question for the community is whether the direct charging model proposed by the ATM Industry Steering Group (AISG) will deliver improved outcomes for consumers.
- 1.4 Under the proposal, the ATM interchange fee would be abolished; instead ATM owners would be permitted to charge a fee directly to cardholders. The card issuing institution would also be able to charge the customer a fee for the transaction.
- 1.5 Direct charging of ATM fees allows ATM owners to charge a different fee for each individual ATM based on their different costs.
- 1.6 The Committee received evidence that an ATM in a rural or remote area would typically have fewer transactions per day and higher telecommunications, cash handling and maintenance costs compared to an ATM located in a capital city.
- 1.7 It is therefore inherent in the AISG model that ATM operators in rural and remote areas should be able to charge more than in metropolitan areas.
- 1.8 Labor members do not believe that this would be an acceptable outcome of 'reform' and oppose any move towards direct charging that would result in the opening up of a differential in foreign ATM fees between metropolitan and rural and regional Australia.
- 1.9 As the majority report notes, there is an 'increasing reliance on ATMs as a primary means to access cash and obtain an account balance'. This is especially the case in regional and remote Australia where there are fewer banking alternatives.

1.10 The ability to access cash in a transaction or savings account is an essential service. Labor members do not believe that any differential in the price of access between city and country is justified.

Competition will not restrain ATM fees: Regulatory intervention is required

- 1.11 The proponents of the direct charging model argue that competitive forces would ensure that ATM fees would not be excessive.
- 1.12 Labor members are deeply skeptical of this argument. As the majority report notes the evidence presented to the Committee indicates that 'provision of retail banking services in regional, rural and remote Australia is not driven by competition and hence the market is sluggish in responding to consumer demands'. Labor members believe that the lack of competition in rural areas may lead to a sharp rise in ATM fees under the direct charging model.
- 1.13 While the majority report expresses these same concerns, in the view of Labor members, recommendation 1 does not ensure that the fundamental flaws in the AISG model are dealt with.
- 1.14 The majority report calls for 'safeguards that would ensure that people living in country towns and remote communities do not incur significantly higher fees or charges for using a foreign ATM and that an unreasonable or unwarranted differential in fees and charges between those in rural and remote areas and those in metropolitan areas does not develop'.
- 1.15 Labor members believe that this recommendation does not go far enough. In Labor's view no differential in foreign ATM fees between different locations is reasonable or warranted. This qualification gives the ATM industry too much discretion to ramp up fees in rural regional areas.

Labor's approach to ATM reform

- 1.16 For sometime Labor has set out a number of principles against which ATM reform must be assessed. Labor members believe that any reform to ATM arrangements must:
- reduce the overall cost of banking to customers;
- ensure that customers in regional areas are not slugged with higher fees than charged in the major cities;
- prevent institutions with large ATM networks from using their market power to impose higher charges on customers of smaller institutions.

² Paragraph 2.52.

Labor members do not believe that the AISG proposal, as currently articulated, compares favorably with these criteria.

Banking Costs

- 1.17 There is no guarantee that direct charging will reduce the overall cost of banking.
- 1.18 The proposal involves the unbundling of the current ATM fee. The ATM owner will be able to charge for the transaction but the cardholder's institution will also be able to charge a separate transaction fee.
- 1.19 Therefore two fees will replace the current foreign ATM fee. In evidence to the Committee, the Australian Consumers Association expressed concerns about the impact of unbundling on fees paid by consumers:

there will be two fees a person will pay every time they use a foreign ATM and the great capacity going forward for both those fees to rise in the future, leading to future higher costs for foreign ATM access. Where there have been any assurances provided or any expectations cited that fees will come down in the future, these appear to be informal assurances provided to the regulator rather than anything inherent in the operation of this model. That, to us, is no assurance at all.³

Fee Differentials

- 1.20 It is implicit in the model and acknowledged by its proponents that higher ATM fees will occur in high cost locations. Labor members believe that as a matter of social justice, it is unacceptable to impose an additional burden to access cash on rural and regional customers.
- 1.21 The argument that each machine should pay its own way is based on a misunderstanding of the economics of banking in rural communities. These changes must be seen in context of the fact that rural and regional consumers have already borne the brunt of branch closures. In the last decade more than 750 branches have closed in non-metropolitan areas.
- 1.22 Chris Connolly of the Financial Services Consumer Policy Centre made this point strongly in evidence before the Committee:

the economics of individual ATMs are not a good starting point for reforms for regional consumers because the Reserve Bank proposal is that each stand-alone ATM will make a profit and not a loss. Of course, that ignores the long history, of which this committee will be aware, of the transformation of banking services in regional areas. In fact, the real economics of ATMs is that, by putting in an ATM, banks have saved a lot of money because they have closed branches or reduced the amount of staff

³ Ms Catherine Wolthuizen, *Committee Hansard*, 5 November 2003, p. 614.

in branches. The economic benefits of an ATM for a bank come from cost savings in staff and real property and not from that individual ATM making money on every transaction. So for that pure economics theory to work, you are ignoring the entire history that this committee's work has been focused on recently.⁴

Competitive Impact

1.23 Labor members are concerned that the AISG proposal may have a negative impact on the competitive position of smaller institutions. In the US there is evidence that some banks with an ATM network that is dominant in a particular area have raised their foreign charges in order to encourage customers of institutions with a smaller network to switch to avoid the charge. Labor members believe that such pricing would threaten competition retail banking. Any proposed reforms must ensure that customers and smaller institutions are not targeted in such a way.

Future Options

- 1.24 Labor members acknowledge that ACCC authorisation is required for the AISG direct charging regime to come into effect as it is contingent on the industry agreeing to reduce the current interchange fee to zero.
- 1.25 Labor members trust that the ACCC will give rigorous scrutiny to any direct charging proposal to ensure that it does yield a net public benefit. Consumer groups have indicated that they will continue to urge the AISG to include a prohibition against differential pricing in the authorisation proposal and for the ACCC to have a role in monitoring the impact of direct charging. Labor members support both of these proposals.
- 1.26 However in the event that the proposal is authorised by the ACCC without appropriate safeguards, Labor members believe that it is incumbent on Government to intervene in the interests of rural and regional consumers. In such a situation a community service obligation should be imposed on ATM operators to impose a uniform fee throughout Australia.
- 1.27 The decision of the majority of the Committee to allow price differentiation between metropolitan and regional and remote Australia seems to be based on the proposition that ATM owners must be allowed to charge exorbitant amounts in order to ensure that services are rolled out into localities with few or no ATMs. Labor members do not accept this trade off.
- 1.28 If the banks are unwilling to accept that they have an obligation to ensure that customers are able to access their cash in transaction accounts, the Government should address the issue through community service obligations imposed under a social charter.

⁴ *Committee Hansard*, 5 November 2003, p. 613.

Fee Disclosure

- 1.29 It is now nearly three years since the Labor members of the Joint Standing Committee on Corporations called for the banks to introduce real time disclosure for ATMs.
- 1.30 The banks have repeatedly cited technological constraints as an obstacle to delivering this outcome. Labor members note however that these constraints do not seem to stop the banks from making changes to allow ATMs to sell more products to consumers
- 1.31 Recent reports suggest that new software is being rolled out to ATMs to allow them to be linked to bank databases on customers' income and spending habits. This technology won't be used just to promote the bank's own products but will also be used to advertise on behalf of others.⁵
- 1.32 Labor believes that disclosure is fundamental to driving down the cost of foreign ATM fees. As the Committee noted in 2001, US research shows that when customers are advised of foreign ATM fees before a transaction 25 percent of customers cancelled the transaction and sought out their own bank's ATM.
- 1.33 Real time disclosure of ATM charges is already compulsory in the United Kingdom and Canada and will soon be required in the United States.
- 1.34 Labor members do not believe that disclosure should be conditional on the banks getting their way on the proposed direct charging model. If the banks refuse to implement real time disclosure voluntarily, a legislative response is required.

SENATOR PENNY WONG **DEPUTY CHAIR**

MR ANTHONY BYRNE MP

SENATOR STEPHEN CONROY

MR ALAN GRIFFIN MP

Sue Lowe, 'Now, the ATM that takes your cash back", *Sydney Morning Herald*, 20 December 2003.

APPENDIX 1

LIST OF SUBMISSIONS

Submission	Submitter
number	
99	Argent, Dr Neil
130	Association of Financial Advisers
121	Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
106	Australia Post
122	Australian Association of Permanent Building Societies
117	Australian Bankers' Association
117A	Australian Bankers' Association (Supplementary)
80	Australian Centre for Co-operative Research and Development
66	Bank of Western Australia Ltd
82	Barraba Shire Council
53	Bendigo Bank Group
68	Blayney Shire Council
92	Boonah Shire Council
46	Borton, Mr Robin
67	Burdekin Shire Council
85	Cabonne Council
47	Cape York Community Financial Project Ltd
94	Carnarvon Chamber of Commmerce
28	Catholic Women's League (Tasmania) Inc.
70	Catholic Women's League Australia Inc.
79	Citizens Electoral Council of Australia
7	Colonel Mel Bartlett
124	Commonwealth Bank of Australia
132	Community Bank Cummins
113	Community Teleservices Australia Inc (CTSA)
44	CONFIDENTIAL
60	CONFIDENTIAL
108	CONFIDENTIAL
88	Cooktown Community Bank Committee
97	Coonabarabran Shire Council
33	Corowa Shire Council
76	Council of the City of Ballarat
40	Council of the Shire of Cardwell
73	Country Women's Association of Australia

Page 34 Appendix 1

Submission number	Submitter
86	Country Women's Association of NSW
83	Country Women's Association of Victoria Inc.
59	CPS Credit Union (SA) Ltd
109	Credit Union Services Corporation (Australia) Limited
109A	Credit Union Services Corporation (Australia) Limited
10711	(Supplementary)
57	Crookwell Shire Council
105	Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry - Australia
128	Department of Community Development, Sport and Cultural Affairs on behalf of the Northern Territory Government
101	Department of Family and Community Services
123	Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs
127	Department of Transport and Regional Services
4	District Council of Grant
6	District Council of Karoonda East Murray
96	District Council of Lower Eyre Peninsula
30	District Council of Robe
45	Douglas Shire Council
75	East Gippsland Shire Council
81	Edenhope and District Community Bank Steering Committee
131	Elders Rural Bank
69	Finance Sector Union of Australia
11	Glover, Mr Peter
74	Gosford City Council
41	Goulburn City Council
12	Great Lakes Council
8	Gulin Gulin & Weemol Community Council Aboriginal Corporation
56	Gunning Shire Council
50	Guyra Shire Council
17	Herberton Shire Council
87	Hindmarsh Shire Council
18	Holroyd City Council
103	Hutcheon, Mrs Wendy
63	Ipswich City Council
20	Katherine Town Council
95	Lachlan Shire Council
38	Latrobe City Council
31	Laverton Shire Council
116	Lismore City Council
43	Local Government Association of Tasmania

List of Submissions Page 35

Submission	Submitter
number 25	Lockhart Shire Council
54	Macedon Ranges Shire Council
22	
91	Maitland City Council Manilla Shire Council
102	Marshall, Mr Glen
65	Mataranka Community Government Council
1	McLean, Mr Neil
72	Millmerran Shire Council
107	Moore, Mr Tim
114	Municipal Association of Victoria
29	Murgon Shire Council
10	Nanango Shire Council
36	Narrandera Shire Council
118	National Australia Bank
119	National Farmers' Federation
5	Nauiyu Nambiyu Community Government Council
5A	Nauiyu Nambiyu Community Government Council (Supplementary)
34	Northern Areas Council
21	Northern Midlands Council
111	Noye, Mr Larry
19	Paroo Shire Council
2	Paterson, Mr John
3	Pittsworth Shire Council
77	Post Office Agents Association Limited
78	Professor Jon Altman
71	Provic Group Inc.
62	Queensland Country Women's Association- Norwin Branch
120	Reconciliation Australia
120A	Reconciliation Australia (Supplementary)
89	Redland Shire Council
133	Reserve Bank of Australia
16	Rosalie Shire Council
16A	Rosalie Shire Council (Supplementary)
115	Severn Shire Council
48	Sharpe, Ms Louise
24	Shire of Chapman Valley
125	Shire of Dandaragan
35	Shire of Greenough
52	Shire of Kellerberrin

Page 36 Appendix 1

Submission number	Submitter
42	Shire of Nannup
49	Shire of Victoria Plains
14	Shire of Woodanilling
61	Shire of Yarra Ranges
129	South Australian Government
112	St. George Bank Limited
9	Surf Coast Shire Council
13	Swan Hill Rural City Council
93	Tamworth City Council
126	Tasmanian Government
15	The Barossa Council
100	The Country Women's Association of Western Australia (Inc)
90	The Manangatang Improvement Group Inc
51	The Shire of Wiluna
26	The South Australian Country Women's Association Inc
98	Thuringowa City Council
58	Traditional Credit Union Limited
58A	Traditional Credit Union Limited (Supplementary)
58B	Traditional Credit Union Limited (Supplementary)
84	Uniting Church Synod of South Australia
37	Upper Murray Regional Library
104	Victorian Farmers Federation
39	Wagga Mutual Credit Union
64	Weddin Shire Council
55	West Tamar Council
110	Westpac Banking Corporation
27	Winton Shire Council
32	Woorinen and Beverford District Action Group
23	Yallaroi Shire Council

APPENDIX 2

PUBLIC HEARINGS AND WITNESSES

TUESDAY, 12 NOVEMBER 2002 – CANBERRA

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, FISHERIES AND FORESTRY

Mr Brian Jones, General Manager, Science and Economic Policy, Rural Policy and Innovation

Mr Anthony Harman, Acting Manager, Economic Policy and Operating Environment, Rural Policy and Innovation

Ms Nandhini Nagaratnam, Senior Policy Adviser, Economic Policy and Operating Environment, Rural Policy and Innovation

DEPARTMENT OF IMMIGRATION AND MULTICULTURAL AND INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS – OFFICE OF ABORIGINAL AND TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER AFFAIRS

Mr Stephen Oxley, Assistant Secretary, Social Programs and Reconciliation Branch Mr Bryan Palmer, Senior Adviser, Service Delivery and performance Section

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Ms Kelly Pearce, Acting Assistant Secretary, Regional Access Branch

Mr Paul Davies, Director, Rural Transaction Centres Program, Policy and External Relations Section

Ms Helen Blain, Assistant Director, Rural Transaction Centres Program, Policy and External Relations Section

DEPARTMENT OF FAMILY AND COMMUNITY SERVICES

Ms Glenys Beauchamp, Executive Director, Community Development and Support Mr Barry Smith, Assistant Secretary, Indigenous Policy and North Australia Office

CENTRELINK

Mr Robin Salvage, National Manager, Rural and Housing Segment
Ms Jenny Thomson, Business Manager, Service Development, Indigenous
Community Segment

THURSDAY, 14 NOVEMBER 2002 – CANBERRA

NATIONAL FARMERS FEDERATION

Mr Charles Burke, Chairman, Economics Committee Mr Michael Potter, Policy Manager, Economics Committee Page 38 Appendix 2

AUSTRALIAN BANKERS ASSOCIATION

Mr David Bell, Chief Executive Officer

Mr Stephen Carroll, Director

Ms Ardele Blignault, Director

Ms Gina Cass-Gottlieb, Partner, Gilbert and Tobin, Adviser to Australian Bankers Association

AUSTRALIAN NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

Professor Jon Altman, Director, Centre for Aboriginal Economic Policy Research Dr John Taylor, Senior Fellow, Centre for Aboriginal Economic Policy Research

RECONCILIATION AUSTRALIA

Ms Siobhan McDonnell, Project Workers, Banking and Financial Services Mr Brian Aarons, General Manager Mr Joseph Elu, Director

TUESDAY, 25 FEBRUARY 2003 – SYDNEY

WESTPAC BANKING CORPORATION

Mr Graham Jennings, National Manager, Regional Banking Mr Graham Paterson, Head of Regional Community Partnerships

COMMONWEALTH BANK OF AUSTRALIA

Mr Hugh Harley, Group Executive, Retail Banking Services

Mr Mukesh Parekh, Executive General Manager, Infrastructure Services, Retail Banking Services

Mr Stephen Morgan, Chief Manager, Agribusiness

AUSTRALIAN CENTRE FOR CO-OPERATIVE RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

Mr Gary Cronan, General Manager

Ms Kathryn Parker, Research Fellow

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Mr Shaun McBride, Policy Officer, Finance & Economic Development Mr David Clark, Legal Officer

CREDIT UNION SERVICES CORPORATION (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

Mr Adrian Lovney, General Manager, Industry Association Ms Louise Petschler, Head of Public Affairs

AUSTRALIAN PRUDENTIAL REGULATION AUTHORITY

Mr Brandon Khoo, Executive General Manager, Specialised Institutions Division Dr Darryl Roberts, General Manager, Rehabilitation and Enforcement Mr Stephen Glenfield, General Manager, South West Region

Mr Earl Burgess, Senior Manager, Rehabilitation and Enforcement

COUNTRY WOMEN'S ASSOCIATION OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Mrs Margaret Brown, Committee Chairman

SMALL BUSINESS ASSOCIATION OF AUSTRALIA

Mr John Fowler, President

WEDNESDAY, 26 FEBRUARY 2003 – MELBOURNE

AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS COMMISSION

Mr Ian Johnston, Executive Director, Financial Services Regulation Mr Mark Adams, Director, Regulatory Policy Ms Pauline Vamos, Director, Licensing and Business Operations

AUSTRALIA AND NEW ZEALAND BANKING GROUP LIMITED

Ms Jane Nash, Government and Regulatory Affairs Mr Mike Guerin, Rural Banking

PROFESSOR IAN HARPER, Sidney Myer Professor of Commerce and Business Administration, Assistant Director and Dean of Faculty, Melbourne Business School

MR TIM MOORE, Department of Economics, Monash University

FINANCE SECTOR UNION OF AUSTRALIA

Mr Tony Beck, National Secretary

MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION OF VICTORIA

Mr Troy Edwards, Senior Policy Adviser

Ms Kerry Yu, Policy Adviser

Mr Daryl Treloar, Economic Development & Tourism Manager, Surf Coast Shire Council

Mr Bill Barber, Investment Manager, Latrobe City Council

Mr Chris Francis, Director, Organisational Strategy, Ballarat City Council

COUNCIL OF SMALL BUSINESS ORGANISATIONS OF AUSTRALIA

Mr Richard Brooks, Timber Merchants Association

Page 40 Appendix 2

AUSTRALIAN RETAILERS ASSOCIATION

Mr Stan Moore, Interim Chief Executive Officer

THURSDAY, 27 FEBRUARY 2003 – MELBOURNE

NATIONAL AUSTRALIA BANK

Mr Ian MacDonald, Executive General Manager, Financial Services Australia

Mr Jeremy Dean, General Manager, Channel and Process Optimisation

Mr Mike Carroll, General Manager, Agribusiness Financial Services

Mr Gordon Lefevre, General Manager, Personal Financial Services

Mr Tim O'Leary, Head of Corporate Affairs, Financial Services Australia

AUSTRALIAN COMPETITION AND CONSUMER COMMISSION

Mr Brian Cassidy, Chief Executive Officer

Mr Paul Palisi, Acting General Manager of Ajudication

Mr Mark Pearson, General Manager, Merger and Assets Sales

BENDIGO BANK

Mr Greg Gillett, Chief General Manager, Retail Banking, Bendigo Bank Group

POST OFFICE AGENTS ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Ms Marie McGrath-Kerr, National Chairman

Mr Dennis Jenner, South Australia/Northern Territory Branch Chairman

WEDNESDAY, 12 MARCH 2003 – ADELAIDE

ELDERS RURAL BANK

Mr Brian Goodfellow, General Manager Operations

CPS CREDIT UNION (SOUTH AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

Mr Tim White, General Manager

AUSTRALIA POST

Mr Mike McCloskey, Corporate Secretary

Mr Terry Stephens, Group Manager, Financial Services

THE SOUTH AUSTRALIAN COUNTRY WOMEN'S ASSOCIATION

Mrs Mary Scattock

Mrs Beth Waddington

Mrs Val Yelds

UNITING CHURCH SYNOD OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA

Ms Julia Pitman, Justice and Solidarity Research Officer, Adelaide Central Mission

THURSDAY, 13 MARCH 2003 – TANUNDA AND JAMESTOWN THE BAROSSA COUNCIL AND ANGASTON COMMUNITY BANK STEERING COMMITTEE

Mr Rob Adam, Director Corporate and Community Services, Barossa Council Councillor David Lykke, Member, Barossa Council and Member, Angaston Community Bank Steering Committee

NORTHERN AREAS COUNCIL

Mr Keith Hope, Community Projects and Development Manager, Northern Areas Council

Mr Lyndon Longmire, Councillor, Northern Areas Council

Councillor Jeff Burgess, Chairman, Northern Areas Council

Mr Malcolm Catford, Councillor, Northern Areas Council

Mr Samuel Smith, President, Gladstone Community Development and Tourism Association; and Member, Rocky River Community Bank Steering Committee

Mr Peter Emery, Executive Officer, Central Local Government Region of South Australia Inc

THURSDAY, 22 MAY 2003 - YARRAMAN

ALLERY, MR KEVIN (Private capacity)

NANANGO SHIRE COUNCIL

Brittain, Mr Richard Leslie Charles, Chief Executive Officer Lee, Councillor John Archibald, Deputy Mayor McCallum, Mayor Reginald Beach, Mayor

NANANGO PROGRESSIVE COMMUNITY LTD

Head, Mr Robert, Director Zerbst, Mrs Wendy Jane, Secretary

ELECTRICITY CREDIT UNION

Maudsley, Mr Geoffrey William, Chairman

ROSALIE SHIRE COUNCIL

Strohfeld, Councillor Noel Leslie, Mayor

Page 42 Appendix 2

Weber, Mr Clinton Noel, Chief Executive Officer

FRIDAY, 23 MAY 2003 - TOOWOOMBA AND BOONAH

BOONAH SHIRE COUNCIL

Flint, Mr Ian Charles, Chief Executive Officer Smith, Councillor Robert Bruce, Deputy Mayor

HERITAGE BUILDING SOCIETY LTD

Read-Smith, Mr Fraser Douglas, Chief Executive Officer

MONDAY, 21 JULY 2003 - DALY RIVER

PERRYS ON THE DALY PTY LTD

Perry, Mrs Carol Anne, Secretary and Director

NAUIYU NAMBIYU COMMUNITY GOVERNMENT COUNCIL

Shoobridge, Mr David, Chief Executive Officer

MONDAY, 21 JULY 2003 - DARWIN

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT, SPORT AND CULTURAL AFFAIRS

Gardiner, Mr John, Senior Policy Officer, Partnerships and Regional Development Branch

TRADITIONAL CREDIT UNION LTD

Gaykamanu, Mr Djerringal (Henry), Director, Founding Member McMillan, Ms Beverley Anne, Assistant General Manager

DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS, INDUSTRY AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT

Nolen, Mr Mark John, Indigenous Economic Development Coordinator

WESTBURY, MR NEIL DONALD (Private capacity)

TUESDAY, 22 JULY 2003 - ALICE SPRINGS

TANGENTYERE COUNCIL INC

Acfield, Mr Paul John, Human Resources Manager Birch, Mrs Leanne, Senior Finance Officer, Reconciliations Fielding, Ms Rochelle Louise, Senior Finance Officer McDonald, Mr Patrick James, Finance Manager Nightingale, Mrs Tracie Leigh, Senior Finance Officer, Bank Agency Shacklady, Mr Leigh, Financial Counsellor

CENTRELINK

Miller, Mrs Joanne Marie, Business Manager, Service Delivery, Central Cluster, Area North Australia

Pitts, Mr Gordon Ronald, Area Manager, Area North Australia

WESTPAC

Paterson, Mr Graham, Head of Regional Community Partnerships

WEDNESDAY, 5 NOVEMBER 2003- CANBERRA

AUSTRALIAN ASSOCIATION OF PERMANENT BUILDING SOCIETIES

Anderson, Mr Gordon, Senior Manager, Payments, IMB, and representing AAPBS Toms, Mr John Neville, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Settlements Ltd, and representing AAPBS

AUSTRALIAN BANKERS ASSOCIATION

Bell, Mr David, Chief Executive Officer

Gallagher, Ms Lynne, Director, Wealth Management, Australian Bankers Association

COUNTRY WOMEN'S ASSOCIATION OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Brown, Mrs Margaret Mary, Chairman, State Study and Investigation Committee

RESERVE BANK OF AUSTRALIA

Bullock, Ms Michele, Acting Head, Payments Policy Department

RECONCILIATION AUSTRALIA

Chandler, Ms Jenni, Chief Executive Officer

UNIVERSITY OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Connolly, Mr Chris, Director, Financial Services Consumer Policy Centre

VIRGIN MONEY AUSTRALIA

Gamble, Mr Rohan David, Managing Director

Page 44 Appendix 2

CREDIT UNION SERVICES CORPORATION (AUSTRALIA) LTD

Lawler, Mr Luke, Senior Adviser, Policy and Public Affairs Petschler, Ms Louise, Head of Public Affairs

RESERVE BANK OF AUSTRALIA

Veale, Dr John Michael, Acting Assistant Governor (Financial System)

AUSTRALIAN CONSUMERS ASSOCIATION

Wolthuizen, Ms Catherine, Senior Policy Officer, Financial Services